S222329

IN THE SUPREME COURT
OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

SUPREME COURT
FILED

NOV - 3 2014

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

926 North Ardmore Avenue, LLC, a California limited liability company, Plaintiff and Appellant,

v.

County of Los Angeles, *Defendant and Respondent.*

After a Decision by the Court of Appeal Second Appellate District, Case No. B248356 Los Angeles County Superior Court, Case No. BC 476670 The Honorable Rita Miller, Judge Presiding

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Lemoine Skinner III FISHERBROYLES, LLP 1334 8th Avenue San Francisco, California 94122 Telephone: (415) 566-1365

Attorneys for Plaintiff and Appellant

ISSUE PRESENTED

Does Revenue and Taxation Code section 11911 authorize a "county," or a "city and county," to impose a documentary transfer tax based on a change in ownership in a legal entity that directly or indirectly (through one or more layers) holds title to real property?

WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

Revenue and Taxation Code section 11911,¹ which is part of the Documentary Transfer Tax Act ("DTTA"), authorizes the imposition of a documentary transfer tax "on each deed, instrument, or writing by which any lands . . . or other realty sold . . . [are] granted, assigned, transferred, or otherwise conveyed to . . . the purchaser or purchasers."²

In this case, in a marked departure from the statute's plain language, the Court of Appeal ruled that "a documentary tax may be applied to transfers of interests in legal entities [that hold title to real property through one or more layers] pursuant to section 11911 if the transfer results in a 'change of ownership'" of the entity within the meaning of section 64 (slip opn., p. 30)—even absent any actual or constructive conveyance of title to the realty held by the entity, as required by the plain meaning of the statute.

The Court of Appeal's expansive and unprecedented reading of section 11911 departs markedly from the plain meaning of its statutory text, which only authorizes the "impos[ition]" of a documentary transfer tax on "each deed, instrument, or writing by which any lands, tenements, or other

¹ Unless specified otherwise, all statutory references are to the Revenue and Taxation Code.

² Section 11911(a) authorizes counties to impose the tax; section 11911(b) authorizes cities within counties that have already imposed the tax to impose the tax as well.

realty sold within the county shall be granted, assigned, transferred, or otherwise conveyed to, or vested in, the purchaser or purchasers " (*Ibid.*) The court's decision threatens to upend decades of well-settled precedent, practice, and understandings applying excise taxes such as the DTTA only to *documents* evidencing the transfer of *realty*. That, in turn, will create chaos and confusion if left unaddressed, and also raises serious constitutional issues, all of which warrant this Court's review before the effects of this decision, applied inconsistently across 58 different counties and hundreds of cities throughout the State, become difficult, if not impossible, to unwind.

Transfers of realty are evidenced by some type of "deed, instrument, or other writing" by which property is conveyed, and those writings have long been the object of the DTTA, as they were under the Federal Stamp Act that it replaced and on which the DTTA was patterned. (§ 11911.)³ The person who makes, signs, or issues the instrument subject to the tax or for whose benefit the same is made, signed, or issued, is thus liable for this excise tax. (§ 11912.)

The statute extends the incidence of the tax beyond the actual conveyance of title to realty in only one instance: when a "partnership" "h[olding]" the realty "shall be treated as having executed an instrument whereby there was conveyed... all realty held by the partnership" by virtue of the partnership having "terminated" within the meaning of Section 708(b)

³ (See, e.g., Enrolled Bill Report to S. B. 837 [section 11911 "is designed to conform to the existing federal tax on transfers of real estate, which expires January 1, 1968"], 3 Clerk's Transcript (CT) 449; Legislative Analyst's June 12, 1967 Analysis of Senate Bill No. 837 [referring to the "substantially similar federal tax which expires January 1, 1968"], 2 CT 437-438; Opinion of Legislative Counsel, S.B. 837, dated Aug. 1, 1967, printed in Senate Journal, Aug. 4, 1967, 3 CT 503-504.)

⁴ Under the statute, the term "partnership" includes any "other entity treated as a partnership for federal income tax purposes." (§11925(b).)

of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986.⁵ (§ 11925, subd. (b).) In those instances, such entities are treated as though they have made a constructive conveyance of the real property, and are therefore subject to the tax imposed under section 11911. No analogous provision exists for shares of corporations, or shares of entities, such as single-member limited liability companies, because shares of corporations were governed by a different (and now-repealed) provision of the federal tax code that the California Legislature opted *not* to incorporate in enacting the DTTA.⁶

California's DTTA typically has been construed by looking to precedent interpreting the identical provision of the now-repealed Federal Stamp Act (former 26 U.S.C. § 4361), which did not impose a documentary tax on transfers of interests in corporate entities directly or indirectly holding title to realty. (See *United States v. Seattle-First Nat'l Bank* (1944) 321 U.S. 583, 589-590 (*Seattle-First*) [holding that identically-worded predecessor to former 26 U.S.C. § 4361 did not apply where the "realty was not conveyed to or vested in respondent by means of any deed, instrument or writing"].)

The Court of Appeal acknowledged that section 11911 is patterned on former 26 U.S.C. § 4361, and that section 11925, setting forth the limited exemption for partnerships, is patterned on former 26 U.S.C. § 4383. (Slip opn., p. 10.) Yet, in a surprising and largely unexplained turn, the court rejected prior appellate decisions that had explicitly held that courts "must infer that the Legislature intended to perpetuate the *federal administrative interpretations* of [the Federal Stamp Act]" (*Thrifty Corp. v. Cnty. of L.A.* (1989) 210 Cal.App.3d 881, 884 (*Thrifty*), italics added; *Brown v. Cnty. of*

⁵ Title 26 of the U.S. Code.

⁶ (See former 26 U.S.C. § 4321.)

L.A. (1999) 72 Cal.App.4th 665, 668 (*Brown*)), and numerous Opinions of the Attorney General of California that had virtually unanimously held that the documentary transfer tax was intended to apply in the same way as the Federal Stamp Act on conveyances of real estate.⁷ Instead, the court stated that "federal law does not dictate the meaning of the DTTA." (Slip opn., p. 27.)

The Court of Appeal's departure from its sister courts' longstanding deference to federal interpretations in favor of the definition of "change in ownership" in section 64—a property-tax provision that appears in a different division of the Revenue and Taxation Code employs different terminology, and was enacted in response to Proposition 13⁸ twelve years after section 11911—cannot be the proper interpretation of section 11911. It also is likely to result in significant "unfair surprise" to taxpayers who hold real estate through corporate entities, particularly because documentary transfer taxes may be imposed years after the transaction that purportedly gives rise to them. Those reliance interests are bound to be upset, across thousands of transactions, because the Court of Appeal's decision now allows counties and cities to impose documentary transfer taxes whenever there is a change in ownership of some entity at some point in the chain of ownership above the realty taxed. The court's decision does so by importing into the DTTA's excise-tax provision the state property-tax definition of

⁷ (See 51 Ops. Cal. Atty. Gen. 50, 52; 51 Ops. Cal. Atty. Gen. 55, 56-57; 53 Ops. Cal. Atty. Gen. 252; 56 Ops. Cal. Atty. Gen. 79, 82-83; 62 Ops. Cal. Atty. Gen. 87; 82 Ops. Cal. Atty. Gen. 56, 58-59; and 85 Ops. Cal. Atty. Gen. 235, 236-238 [following federal precedents under the federal documentary stamp tax law on conveyances of real estate in interpreting California's DTTA].)

⁸ Proposition 13, of course, amended the California Constitution in 1978, 12 years after the DTTA was enacted. Among other things, Proposition 13 imposes limits on the ad valorem taxation of real property in California. (Cal. Const., art. XIIIA, § 1, subd. (a).)

"change of ownership" in section 64 of the Revenue and Taxation Code.

Review is necessary in order to protect these reliance interests, to restore the integrity of section 11911 and the plain meaning of its text, to ensure consistent and coherent administration of various independent segments of the Revenue and Taxation Code, and to guard against the type of end-run around the Legislature and pertinent constitutional limitations on taxes (including the two-thirds supermajority approval requirement) that the Court of Appeal effectuated here. The numerous "important issues of law" raised in this Petition call for resolution by this Court, and the plaintiff, 926 North Ardmore Avenue LLC ("Ardmore"), respectfully requests that this Court grant review pursuant to Rule 8.500(b)(1) of the California Rules of Court.

STATUTORY FRAMEWORK

The Documentary Transfer Tax Act authorizes counties and cities to impose an excise tax on "each deed, instrument, or writing by which any lands, tenements or other realty sold within the county shall be granted, assigned, transferred, or otherwise conveyed to, or vested in, the purchaser or purchasers, or any other person or persons . . . at the rate of fifty-five cents (\$0.55) for each five hundred dollars (\$500) or fractional part thereof." (\$ 11911.)9 In passing the DTTA in 1967, the Legislature intended to base and pattern it on the now-repealed Federal Stamp Act. (Former 26 U.S.C. §§ 4361, 4363; see Thrifty, supra, 210 Cal.App.3d at p. 884.)

Unlike California's ad valorem property taxes—which tax the

The County and the City of Los Angeles each have enacted ordinances imposing a documentary transfer tax pursuant to section 11911, using language essentially identical to the provisions in sections 11911 and 11925. (See L.A.C.C. §§ 4.60.020, 4.60.080; L.A.M.C. §§ 21.9.2, 21.9.8.)

ownership of property—the DTTA is an excise tax and "tax[es] . . . the exercise of the right or privilege of transferring real property." (City of Huntington Beach v. Super. Ct. (1978) 78 Cal.App.3d 333, 340 (City of Huntington Beach), italics added.) Any tax imposed under this provision "shall be paid by any person who makes, signs or issues any document or instrument subject to the tax" (§ 11912.) Section 11911's enforcement provision provides that the county recorder "shall not record any deed, instrument or writing subject to the tax . . . unless the tax is paid at the time of recording." (§ 11933, italics added.)

Because the Court of Appeal incorporated section 64 into its interpretation of section 11911, Ardmore provides some background regarding the context in which that section was enacted. In 1978, the voters approved Proposition 13, adding article XIIIA to the California Constitution. Proposition 13 limits the amount of property taxes that may be levied on homes and businesses by capping the maximum amount of any ad valorem tax on real property to one percent of the "full cash value" of the property. (Cal. Const., art. XIIIA, § 1, subd. (a).) The full cash value of any real property is the value of such property as shown on the property's 1975-1976 tax bill. (*Id.* § 2, subd. (a).) Property is subject to reappraisal whenever it is purchased, newly constructed, or undergoes a "change in ownership." (*Ibid.*)

Various provisions of the Revenue and Taxation Code implement Proposition 13's mandate, and section 64 defines "change in ownership" of real property held by an entity for purposes of a reappraisal. This provision generally exempts the transfer of ownership interests in legal entities from reappraisal, except in the following two circumstances:

(c)(1) When a . . . legal entity, or any other person obtains control through direct or indirect ownership or control of more than 50 percent of the voting stock of any . . . legal entity through the purchase or transfer of corporate stock, partnership, or limited liability company interest, or ownership

interests in other legal entities, including any purchase or transfer of 50 percent or less of the ownership interest through which control or a majority ownership interest is obtained, the purchase or transfer of that stock or other interest shall be a change of ownership of the real property owned by . . . [the] legal entity in which the controlling interest is obtained;

. . . .

(d) . . . Whenever shares or other ownership interests representing cumulatively more than 50 percent of the total interests in the entity are transferred by any of the original coowners in one or more transactions, a change in ownership of that real property owned by the legal entity shall have occurred, and the property that was previously excluded from change in ownership . . . shall be reappraised.

(§ 64, subds. (a), (c), (d).)

The 2009 and 2011 amendments to sections 408, 408.4 and 480 further require that: (1) any entity undergoing a change in ownership file a change in ownership statement within 90 days of the transaction with the State Board of Equalization; and (2) county recorders "conducting an investigation to determine whether a documentary transfer tax [should be] imposed" have access to such filings.

FACTUAL AND PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND

A. Transactional Background 10

In 1972, Beryl and Gloria Averbook established a family trust that owned several assets, including an apartment building located at 926 North Ardmore Avenue (the "property" or "apartment building"). (Slip opn., p. 2.) After a series of intra-family transactions set forth in detail in the Court of Appeal's opinion (*id.*, pp. 2-3), the property came to be held by Ardmore,

¹⁰ The facts set forth herein were undisputed, as were the rest of the pertinent facts in this case. (8 CT 1719.)

which was wholly owned by a Delaware limited liability limited partnership, BA Realty LLLP ("BA Realty"), which was, in turn, owned by four different subtrusts of the original family trust.

In January 2009, Gloria directed several of the subtrusts to either distribute or sell interests in BA Realty to two subtrusts she had created for her sons, Bruce and Allen, and their issue. The net result was that Allen's trust and Bruce's trust each received approximately 45% of the total interests in BA Realty, while one of Gloria's trusts directly and indirectly held the remaining 10%. (Slip opn., p. 3.) Ardmore reported this sale, along with the prior sales and transactions, to the State Board of Equalization, in a "statement of change in ownership of legal entities." (*Id.*, pp. 3-4; 3 Reporter's Transcript (RT) 375:6-17.) The Los Angeles County Assessor then reassessed 926 North Ardmore Avenue for property tax purposes. (3 RT 375:19-26.)

B. Notice and Demand For Payment

A year later, in a notice first posted on the County Recorder's website in 2010, the County Recorder's office announced that it had begun to enforce "collection of Documentary Transfer Tax... on legal entity transfers where no document is recorded, but which resulted [in] a greater than 50% interest in control of the legal entity being transferred." (3 RT 433:14-434:1; italics added.) The notice stated "collection is made pursuant to Chapter 4.60 of the Los Angeles County Code, and California Revenue and Taxation Code ("RTC") sections 11911 and 11925, and is consistent with case law that defines 'realty sold' as having the same meaning as changes in ownership for property tax purposes in RTC section 64(c)(1)." (1 CT 6, 15, 47.)

At trial, the Assistant Registrar Recorder admitted that this was a marked change in County practice and that the County Recorder had not published anything beforehand that suggested in any way that a documentary transfer tax would be due on the transfer of a greater-than-50%-interest in an

entity directly or indirectly owning real estate. (3 RT 432:28-433:3, 436:15-19.)

On August 11, 2011—more than two years after the subtrusts' transfer of 45% interests in BA Realty to each of Allen's and Bruce's trusts—the County Recorder sent a Notice and Demand for Immediate Payment of Documentary Transfer Tax to Ardmore asserting that the transfer of a controlling interest in Ardmore on [January] 8, 2009 retroactively triggered liability for the documentary transfer tax on the value of 926 North Ardmore Avenue. (1 CT 6, 47.) The Notice and Demand sought \$2,160.40 in documentary transfer tax owing to the County and \$8,838 to the City of Los Angeles ("the City"). (3 RT 376:5-9, 376:24-377:4.) Ardmore paid the tax demanded under protest and then promptly filed a refund claim. (3 RT 377:6-19; 10 CT 2216-2217.)

C. Challenges to the Assessment

Ardmore's claim for a refund contended, among other things, that: (1) the documentary transfer tax did not apply to the transfer of interests in BA Realty because no realty was in fact transferred; (2) the only provision in the Revenue and Taxation Code that would have authorized a transfer tax, section 11925, subdivision (b), did not apply because Ardmore, rather than BA Realty, "held" the Ardmore Avenue property and because, under federal grantor trust rules, Gloria Averbook remained the owner of the Bruce's and Allen's trusts and had effectively conveyed her interest in BA Realty to herself. (See 26 U.S.C. §§ 671-679.) Consequently, the partnership had not "terminat[ed]" within the meaning of section 11925, subdivision (b) and thus no documentary transfer tax was owed.

After the County rejected Ardmore's claim, Ardmore sued the County in Los Angeles Superior Court for a refund of \$10,948.40 in documentary transfer tax collected by the County and the City from Ardmore under their respective ordinances; Ardmore also sought attorneys' fees under Code of

Civil Procedure section 1021.5. (1 CT 3-39.)

D. Statement of Decision, Entry of Judgment, and Appeal

In its 2013 Statement of Decision, the trial court stated that there was no dispute as to any material facts and that its judgment would be for the County. The court ruled that "the transfer of more than a 50% interest in a partnership [BA Realty] permitted the recorder to 'collect a documentary transfer tax on [the] real property" owned by Ardmore and provided that a documentary transfer tax "could be collected, even though the apartment building" was not owned directly by BA Realty. (Slip opn., p. 7.) The Statement of Decision also stated that even had Ardmore prevailed, it would not have been entitled to attorneys' fees under Code of Civil Procedure section 1021.5 as a private attorney general because, in that court's view, the action would have conferred no public benefit. (8 CT 1720.)¹¹

The Court of Appeal affirmed the trial court's decision on the ground that the January 8, 2009 transfers of interest in BA Realty had resulted in a "change of ownership" of the real property owned by Ardmore under section 64, subdivision (d), and thus the Recorder was authorized to impose a documentary transfer tax under section 11911.

The Court of Appeal acknowledged that the DTTA "replace[d] and was patterned after the [portion] of the Federal Stamp Act [applying] to conveyances [26 U.S.C. § 4361]" (Slip opn., p. 10, quoting *Thrifty*, *supra*, 210 Cal.App.3d at p. 884), and that most of the exemptions in California's DTTA were "patterned on similar exemptions that had appeared in the now-expired federal stamp tax." (*Ibid.*)

Nonetheless, the Court of Appeal disagreed that the DTTA should be

¹¹ If review is granted and the Court of Appeal's decision is reversed, the matter must be remanded to allow the lower courts to determine Ardmore's right to attorneys' fees.

"construed in the same manner as the federal statute that it was designed to replace" (slip opn., p. 26), and ruled instead that the phrase "realty sold" in section 11911 was "sufficiently similar" to the definitions of "change in ownership" in sections 64(c) and (d) that the two should have the same meaning. (*Id.*, pp. 22-26.)

The Court of Appeal rested this interpretation on several grounds. First, it concluded that relying on the state *property*-tax-law definition of "change in ownership" to interpret section 11911 (an *excise* tax in a separate division of the Revenue and Taxation Code) was "supported by recent changes in the law that suggest the Legislature endorses the view that a transfer tax may be imposed when there is a 'change in ownership' of a legal entity under section 64, subdivisions (c) or (d)." (Slip opn., p. 24.) Those recent changes included the Legislature's passage of Assembly Bill 563, "which required the assessor to provide information to city officials conducting an investigation to determine 'whether a documentary transfer tax should be imposed for an unrecorded change in control or ownership." (Slip opn., p. 24 [citing § 408.4].)

Second, the Court of Appeal concluded that the federal interpretations of former 26 U.S.C. section 4361, which routinely had been consulted for half a century to interpret California's DTTA, should not be applied because the "former federal stamp scheme applied to multiple categories of transfer," including transfers of interests in capital stock. (Slip opn., p. 27.) However, the court reached this conclusion even though it also acknowledged that documentary transfer taxes on those other categories of transfer were never adopted by the California Legislature in enacting California's DTTA—only the *realty* conveyance portions of the erstwhile Federal Stamp Act had been. (*Id.*, pp. 27-28.) The court also found that "[t]he former federal stamp tax is . . . of limited utility . . . because limited liability companies did not exist in California until 1994." (*Id.*, p. 28.)

Third, the court found it "instructive that the Legislature has taken no action in response to multiple court decisions and several local county ordinances that have specifically interpreted the DTTA to permit a transfer tax when a 'change in ownership' has occurred." (Slip opn., p. 25.)

Finally, the court addressed section 11925, which provides that the documentary transfer tax may not be applied to transfers of interests in partnerships (or entities treated as partnerships for federal income tax purposes) that hold realty unless the transfer results in "termination" of the partnership for federal income tax purposes. It concluded that section 11925 did not apply here "because BA Realty [the partnership] did not hold title to the realty; instead, it owned Ardmore [the LLC], which held title to the realty." (Slip opn., p. 31.)

On October 6, 2014, Ardmore filed a petition for rehearing. The Court of Appeal denied the petition three days later.

ARGUMENT

The Court of Appeal's holding that "a documentary tax may be applied to transfers of interests in legal entities pursuant to section 11911 if the transfer results in a 'change of ownership' under section 64, subdivision (c) or (d)" (slip opn., p. 30) is a significant departure from the plain language of the statutory text and from well-settled precedent, practice, and understandings—one that will have broad implications for thousands of transactions throughout the State. Ardmore submits that review is warranted for at least the following three reasons:

First, the Court of Appeal's decision is the first to extend the statute well beyond its plain language to allow the 58 different counties and 482 different cities in this State to each impose, to varying extents, a documentary transfer tax based on a change in ownership of an entity that holds (directly or indirectly) realty, even when there is no "realty sold," no "deed,

instrument, or writing" evidencing any "convey[ance]" or transfer of realty, and no transfer of title to any realty. Prior to this decision, parties understood a documentary transfer tax to be "the fee paid in connection with the recordation of deeds or other documents evidencing transfers of ownership of real property." (Cathedral City v. Cnty. of Riverside (1985) 163 Cal.App.3d 960, 962 (Cathedral City).) Thus, this radical interpretive change will upset the settled expectations of parties to thousands of transactions, by allowing a mere "change of ownership" of an entity under section 64 (which appears in an entirely different division of the Revenue and Taxation Code) to trigger the imposition of a documentary transfer tax under the DTTA, when such transactions had hitherto never been treated as within the ambit of the DTTA.

Second, the Court of Appeal's refusal to be guided by the interpretations of the Federal Stamp Act, upon which the DTTA was patterned, represents a dramatic departure from other court of appeal decisions and Attorney General Opinions that have consistently and nearly unanimously derived their analysis of the DTTA from cases interpreting the predecessor federal provisions without resorting to "substantially similar" subsequently-enacted state law provisions. (E.g., *Thrifty*, *supra*, 210 Cal.App.3d at p. 884; *Brown*, *supra*, 72 Cal.App.4th at p. 668.)

Third, because the Court of Appeal rewrites section 11911 to define "realty sold" to encompass any "change of ownership" of an entity holding realty under section 64, the court's interpretation conflicts with the limitations on new or increased taxes on the sale of real estate set forth in section 3, subdivision (a) of Article XIIIA of the California Constitution. The Court of Appeal's decision warrants review before other counties and cities begin following Los Angeles County's lead in expanding the reach of the DTTA well beyond what its original purpose and plain language permit.

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