CASE NO.: S222329

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA



926 NORTH ARDMORE AVENUE LLC, *Petitioner and Appellant,*

SUPREME COURT
FILED

v.

NOV 2 5 2014

COUNTY OF LOS ANGELES,

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Defendant and Respondent.

Deputy

After a Decision of the Court of Appeal,
Second Appellate District, Division Seven,
on Appeal from the
Superior Court for the County of Los Angeles,
The Honorable Rita Miller, Judge Presiding
Trial Court Case No. BC 476670
Court of Appeal Case No. 2d Civil No. B248356

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

JOHN F. KRATTLI, County Counsel
ALBERT RAMSEYER, Principal Deputy County Counsel
State Bar No. 131570
648 Kenneth Hahn Hall of Administration

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

LEGAL ARGUMENT

- A. PETITIONER ARDMORE FAILS TO IDENTIFY A LEGAL ISSUE WORTHY OF THIS COURT'S REVIEW.
 - 1. The Court of Appeals' Decision is Consistent with Longstanding Law.

It has long been the law that a documentary transfer tax is owed on a transfer regardless of whether the document evidencing the transfer is recorded, and this principle has been relied on by the Los Angeles County Registrar-Recorder. (6 CT 1224 [legal advice rendered in 1971 to the County Recorder "The County may collect the tax owing on unrecorded documents by any method which is reasonable and adminstratively workable."]) (See also *Endler v. United States* (D.N.J. 1953) 110 F.Supp. 945, 948; *Raccoon Development Inc. v. United States* (Ct.Cl. 1968) 391 F.2d 610, 613.)

In the case that is the subject of the Petition, the sons of Gloria Averbook, acting as trustees of their irrevocable trusts, entered into a purchase agreement with BA Realty, LLLP ("BA Realty"), on January 8, 2009, to acquire 44.59 percent of that entity (collectively 89.18 percent). (Trial exhibit 61, pp. 667, 669, part II, box J.) BA Realty owned the entire membership interest of Petitioner and three other LLCs holding title to apartment houses. (*Id.*, p. 678.) The purchase price was based upon an

appraisal of BA Realty and its constituent assets. (Trial exhibits 22, 43 [see especially p. 926].) The sale was memorialized with promissory notes, security agreements, and partial guarantees by the purchasers. (Trial exhibits 32 through 40.)

The State Board of Equalization reported the sale to the Los Angeles Assessor as constituting a change in ownership for property tax purposes. Petitioner later admitted that its property changed ownership for property tax purposes (7 CT 1543:14-17), and the Los Angeles County Registrar-Recorder subsequently issued a notice and demand for payment of a DTT in the amount of \$10,998.40.

BA Realty incurred a sale of more that fifty percent of the total interest in partnership capital and profits as of January 8, 2009. (7 CT 1546 [RFAs 14 and 15]; 1547 [RFAs 17 and 18].) Petitioner is a disregarded entity for purposes of federal and state income tax law, and its income is reported on the return of BA Realty. (Plaintiff's ex. 61, p. 678.) For purposes of section 708, Petitioner is treated as a division of BA Realty, and is subject to reassessment upon the constructive termination of BA Realty. (26 CFR § 301.7701-2(a); § 1.708-1(b)(2).)

The County's DTT ordinance -- Los Angeles County Code, chapter
4.60 -- generally mirrors Revenue and Taxation Code section 11911, et seq.
The County's ordinance as originally enacted in 1968 included the

provision that the DTT ordinance should be interpreted consistently with the former documentary stamp regulations of the Internal Revenue Service. The County's ordinance in this area was amended in 1984, however, to delete the reference to federal regulations, thereby "allowing the County to administer the tax in accordance with state law." (7 CT 1557.)

The leading California case in the DTT area, *Thrifty Corporation v*. *County of Los Angeles* (1989) 210 Cal.App.3d 881, ("*Thrifty"*) was decided in May 1989, with the Court observing that although the California Documentary Transfer Tax law did not define the phrase "realty sold," it was "sufficiently similar to the phrase 'change in ownership' contained in the same code and governing an analogous subject [real property transfers for property tax purposes], to warrant that each phrase be defined to have the same meaning." (*Id.* at 210 Cal.App.3d 886.)

The *Thrifty* Court's approach provides valuable guidance for the administration of the DTT. For example, the issue being analyzed in in 82 Ops. Cal. Atty. Gen. 56, was whether a DTT was owed on a transfer of real property from a parent corporation to a wholly-owned subsidiary corporation. The Attorney General opined that a tax was not owed relying principally on the guidance provided by *Thrifty* and noting:

Our interpretation of section 11911 is also consistent with a recent pronouncement of legislative intent with respect to the application of the Act to corporate transfers. With specific

regard to the transfer of property from a corporation to a limited liability company, the Legislature has recently declared:

"It is the intent of the Legislature that existing business entities, such as partnerships and corporations, be permitted to convert into or transfer real property to, limited liability companies without incurring a documentary transfer tax *provided* that the direct or indirect proportionate interests in the property remain the same." (Stats. 1996, ch. 57, § 29; emphasis added.)

Petitioner admits that a majority of the membership interest in BA Realty transferred for consideration on January 8, 2009, but asserts that this basis for constructive termination under § 708 (and thereby a basis for a DTT assessment under Rev. & Tax. § 11925), should be disregarded. It is mistaken. See, e.g., 1 CT 154 (report of the U.S. Senate regarding Public Law 85-859, relating to the antecedent federal excise tax) ["... Where there is a termination of a partnership within the meaning of section 708, subsection (b) of new section 4383 treats the partnership as having transferred all stock, certificates of indebtedness, and real property hed by the partnership. Real property is taxed on the basis of its fair market value, exclusive of the value of any lien or encumbrance on the property.

Consequently, once there has been a "termination" of the partnership within

HOA.1111364.1 -12-

the meaning of section 708, the taxes apply with respect to all of the assets in the partnership subject to documentary stamp tax."].)

California property tax law defines a change in ownership in Rev. & Tax. section 60. Section 64(d) of the code provides that the transfer of more that 50 percent of the total interests of a legal entity requires a reassessment of the entity. The similarity of approach reflected in the text of section 708, and suggests that the literal definition of "termination" contained in section 708 should apply when defining a transfer of real property for purposes of the DTT. Petitioner's argument at trial, in contrast, was that the express terms of section 708 should be deemed modified by the grantor trust rules contained in the Internal Revenue Code.

Petitioner asserts that even if a reassessment of BA Realty were required pursuant to section 11925(b), that a reassessment would not then reach to the realty assets owned by BA Realty that are held in the form of an LLC. It argues that though Petitioner is a disregarded entity for income tax purposes, it should be recognized as an entity distinct from BA Realty for excise tax purposes, citing 26 CFR § 301.7701-2 (c) (iv) and (v). (Petition, 19-20.) Petitioner's challenge is not persuasive. The sections it relies on pertain to federal tax obligations, not to that of a state excise tax.

Instead, relying on property tax law for guidance, if a change in ownership of a legal entity does occur, then ". . . all of the property owned directly or indirectly by the acquired legal entity is deemed to have

-13-

undergone a change in ownership." (Cal. Code of Regs., title 18, § 462.180(d)(1)(C).)

The same result is suggested in the regulation interpreting section 708, "if the sale or exchange of an interest in a partnership (upper-tier partnership) that holds an interest in another partnership (lower-tier partnership) results in a termination of the upper-tier partnership, the upper-tier partnership is treated as exchanging its entire interest in the capital and profits of the lower-tier partnership." (Title 26, Code of Federal Regulations § 1.708-1 (b) (2).) This rule applies with equal effect to single member LLCs for purposes of the Internal Revenue Code. (McKee, Nelson, Whitmire, 1 Federal Taxation of Partnerships and Partners (4th ed. 2007) § 3.06[3], p. 3-78; RT 38:6-7.) Petitioner, a disregarded entity, is considered a branch of BA Realty and is also subject to DTT reassessment upon BA Realty's change in ownership.

2. Where the DTTA is Not Explicit, it is Appropriate to Look to the Property Tax Change in Ownership law.

As the opinion of the Second Appellate District, Division Seven, makes clear, limited liability companies were not a recognized form of legal entity at the time the DTTA was first enacted. The Legislature enacted the DTTA, effective January 1, 1968, and LLCs were first recognized in California in 1994.

HOA.1111364.1 -14-

Nonetheless, the *Thrifty* case supports the point that the courts and tax administrators may look to the property tax law in interpreting the DTTA. Doing so does not change the character of the DTT, rather what has changed over time are the enforcement tools available to administer and collect the tax. The Legislature has signaled its endorsement of a more robust DTT administration and collection, by providing additional tax administration tools in 2009 (chapter 522, SB 816) and in 2011 (chapter 320, AB 563.) In enacting these additional tools, the Legislature has looked to property tax provisions and procedures as an appropriate approach.

Petitioner uses the term "constructive conveyance" in its Petition, and by doing so recognizes that the DTT has a broader scope than a conventional escrow and closing. The triggering event in a non-conventional transaction remains the same – a sale of realty – however, the recorder's enforcement tools are not static, but have been enhanced by the Legislature.

It is a record fact in the pending matter that Petitioner was a disregarded entity for income tax purposes and that the beneficial ownership of Petitioner's apartment house was reflected in the ownership of the profits and capital of BA Realty. Approximately ninty percent of that ownership transferred on or about January 8, 2009, and it is appropriate to look to Rev. & Tax. code § 11925, and analogous provisions of the

HOA.1111364.1 -15-

California property tax law for guidance determining Petitioner's liability for a DTT assessment.

3. Petitioner's Belated Claim of Constitutional Infirmities Should Not be Considered

Petition asserts that the Court of Appeals' reference to Rev. & Tax. code sections 408 and 408.4 implemented a retroactive tax increase that was at odds with Proposition 13. The CalTax amicus letter in support of the Petition for Review takes this argument to a new level arguing that the effect of the appellate court's opinion is an unauthorized tax increase. The arguments are unfounded.

Petitioner's complaint alleged that the DTT assessment levied upon it by defendant violated Proposition 13, Proposition 218, and Proposition 26. (1 CT 8:11-18, para. 29.) Petitioner abandoned this claim at trial. (Cf., Petitioner's trial brief, 8 CT 1576.) Petitioner and CalTax should not now be heard to present for the first time on appeal issues that were raised in issues that were raised in Petitioner's complaint but abandoned at trial. (Flannery v. Prentice (2001) 26 Cal.4th 572, 591.)

Even if Petitioner's claim of constitutional infirmities was timely, which they are not, they would still fail. The incident of the DTT has not changed, rather the Legislature has seen fit to provide local government

with additional enforcement powers to better implement the full scope of the DTTA.

III.

CONCLUSION

The Court of Appeal's opinion is supported and reasonable. The Petition should be denied.